
In-person participation by the public will be permitted.  
 
Submit a written public comment prior to the meeting: Public comments submitted to 
krashad@atwater.org by 4:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting will be distributed to the 
Planning Commission and made part of the official minutes but will not be read out loud 
during the meeting. 
 
Assistance will be provided to those requiring accommodations for disabilities in 
compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Persons requesting 
accommodation should contact the City in advance of the meeting, and as soon as 
possible, at (209) 357-6241. 

 
 

CITY OF ATWATER 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
AGENDA 

 
Council Chambers 
750 Bellevue Road  
Atwater, CA 95301 

 
 

August 16, 2023 
 
CALL TO ORDER:                                    6:00 PM 

 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Police Chaplin McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG:  
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Borgwardt____, Kadach____, Sanchez-Garcia ____, Sanders____, Daugherty____ 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS: (The Planning Secretary shall announce any requests for items 
requiring immediate action subsequent to the posting of the agenda. Subsequent need items require a two-
thirds vote of the members of the Commission present at the meeting.) 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: (This is the time for the 
Commission to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.) 

 
Staff’s Recommendation: Motion to approve agenda as posted or as 
amended. 

mailto:krashad@atwater.org


Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of August 16, 2023             Page 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   
 

a) July 19, 2023 – Regular Meeting 
 

Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of minutes as listed.  
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS: None 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

1. Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Conditional 
Use Permit No. 23-04-0100 for a Mobile Food Vendor located at 601 Atwater 
Boulevard, Atwater (APN: 003-082-014) 
(Applicant: Alexandra Medina) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  

  
 Close the public hearing; 
 

Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory 
Structures,” and Adopt Resolution No. 0223-23 Approving Conditional Use 
Permit No. 23-04-0100.  

 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATION FROM STAFF:  
 

1. Deputy City Manager / Community Development Director Verbal Updates 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC:  

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 
 
Planning Commissioner Comments 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

At this time any person may comment on any item which is not on the agenda. You may state your name and 
address for the record; however, it is not required. Action will not be taken on an item that is not on the agenda. If 
it requires action, it will be referred to staff and/or placed on a future agenda. Please limit comments to a maximum 
of three (3) minutes. 
 

 



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of August 16, 2023             Page 3 

 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I, Kayla Rashad, Planning Commission Recording Secretary, do hereby certify that a copy 
of the foregoing Agenda was posted at City Hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 

Kayla Rashad 
__________________________________ 
Kayla Rashad,  
Planning Commission Recording Secretary  
 
 
SB 343 NOTICE 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 54957.5, any writing or document that is a public 
record, relates to an open session agenda item and is distributed less than 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting will be made available for public inspection in the General Services Department at City Hall during 
normal business hours at 750 Bellevue Road. 

  
If, however, the document or writing is not distributed until the regular meeting to which it relates, then the 
document or writing will be made available to the public at the location of the meeting, as listed on this 
agenda at 750 Bellevue Road. 

 
In compliance with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, upon request, the 
agenda can be provided in an alternative format to accommodate special needs.  If you 
require special accommodations to participate in a Planning Commission meeting due to 
a disability, please contact the Planning Commission Secretary a minimum of five (5) 
business days in advance of the meeting at (209) 812-1031. You may also send the 
request by email to  



 
CITY OF ATWATER 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
ACTION MINUTES 

 
July 19, 2023 

 
 
REGULAR SESSION: (Council Chambers) 
 
The Planning Commission of the City of Atwater met in Regular Session 
this date at 6:00 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater 
Civic Center, 750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California; Chairperson Daugherty 
presiding.  
 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Chaplain Mead 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chairperson Daugherty. 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Present:  Planning Commission Members Borgwardt, Kadach, Sanchez-

Garcia, Sanders, Chairperson Daugherty 
Absent: None 
Staff Present: Battalion Chief Lopes, City Engineer Seymour, City Manager 

Waterman, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 
Director Thompson, Senior Planner Rashe, Recording 
Secretary Rashad . 

 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:   
 
None 



 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to approve the agenda as 
posted. The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanders and 
the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Borgwardt, Kadach, Sanchez-
Garcia, Sanders, Daugherty ; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
a) June 21 – Regular Meeting 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia moved to approve the 
minutes. The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Borgwardt 
and the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Borgwardt, Kadach, 
Sanders, Sanchez-Garcia, Daugherty; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion 
passed. 
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
None. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
Public Hearing to consider adopting a Resolution approving a tentative parcel map 
located North of Broadway Avenue, and West of Green Sands Ave, Atwater APN: 004-
110-012.  
(Applicant: Jason Hoogenhous) 
 
Senior Planner Rashe presented a PowerPoint on this item. 
 
Adam Reed spoke on the project. 
 
Chairperson Daugherty opened the public hearing. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chairperson Daugherty closed the public hearing. 
 

MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to Make a finding that 
the project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) guideline section 15332, Class 32, “Infill Development;” and, Adopt 
Resolution No. PC 0226-23 approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 23-07-0100, 800 
feet west of Green Sands Avenue and North of Broadway Avenue, Atwater (APN: 
004-110-012). The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member 



Borgwardt and the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Kadach, 
Sanchez-Garcia, Borgwardt, Sanders, Daugherty; Noes: None; Absent: None. The 
motion passed. 

 
Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving a tentative parcel map located 
West of Hazel Ave, Atwater; APN: 003-160-026.  

(Applicant: Brad Kessler) 

 
Senior Planner Rashe presented a PowerPoint on this item. 
 
Chairperson Daugherty opened the public hearing. 
 
No one came forward to speak. 
 
Chairperson Daugherty closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Borgwardt moved to Make a finding that 
the project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) guideline section 15332, Class 32, “Infill Development;” and, Adopt 
Resolution No. PC 0202-22 approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 22-09-0100, located 
west of Hazel Avenue, Atwater (APN: 003-160-026). The motion was seconded by 
Planning Commission Member Kadach and the vote was: Ayes: Planning 
Commission Members Kadach, Sanchez-Garcia, Borgwardt, Sanders, Daugherty; 
Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 

 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS FROM STAFF:  
 
Deputy City Manager / Community Development Director Thompson spoke about 
the new Planning Area for the City of Atwater. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
Chairperson Daugherty opened the Public Comment. 
 
Notice to the public was read. 
 
Brad Kessler stated his appreciation for staff and his project. 
 
Chairperson Daugherty closed the public comment. 
 
COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 

 
Vice Chairperson Borgwardt inquired about receiving an estimated attendance 



number for the 4th of July event. 
 
Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia stated her appreciation for the 4th 
of July event. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Chairperson Daugherty adjourned the meeting at 6:17 PM. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Ron Daugherty, Chairperson 
 
By: Kayla Rashad 
Recording Secretary 
 
 



 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  

 
MEETING DATE: August 16, 2023 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:  Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 

Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a Resolution Approving a 

Conditional Use Permit No. 23-04-0100 for a mobile food 
vendor to be located at 601 Atwater Boulevard, Atwater (APN: 
003-082-014) 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and take any testimony from the public;  

 
2. Close the public hearing; 
 
3. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory 
Structures,” and Adopt Resolution No. 0223-23 Approving Conditional Use Permit 
No. 23-04-0100.  

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at 601 Atwater Boulevard (APN: 003-082-014) on the west 
side of Castle Street, approximately eighty feet from its intersection with Atwater 
Boulevard (refer to Figure 1). The parcel is approximately .5 acres and has a gun 
shop/archery/shooting range and thirty-nine parking spaces. The existing gun shop is an 
18,800 sq-ft facility with 4,800 sq-ft dedicated to sales, twenty lanes for indoor shooting, 
six lanes for archery, two classrooms, and VIP rooms.  

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 

Donald Borgwardt  Ronald Daugherty 
Harold Kadach          Ileisha Sanders 

Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
Figure 1: Site Location 
 
 ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant requests to operate a mobile food truck at 601 Atwater Boulevard (APN: 
003-082-014). The food truck is approximately 16 x 5 (80 sq-ft) and will be located on the 
northeast side of the property, with the serving area facing south. The food truck will have 
a fifty-five-gallon garbage trash can located to the immediate west of its location and have 
indoor/outdoor lighting. The food truck will be powered by a gas-powered generator 
(Predator Super Quiet Inverter 9500) which, according to an article published by Popular 
Mechanics, published an article on July 16, 2021, titled “PM Approved: The New Predator 
9,500-Watt Inverter Generator from Harbor Freight is an Emergency Essential” rated the 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

generator at 67 db. According to figure 2 below, this is the equivalent of a Commercial jet 
aircraft interior during flight. The food truck will operate with two employees between the 
hours of 10:00 am – 10:00 pm, Tuesday through Sunday. The applicant has arranged the 
use of restrooms located in the Stage Stop Gun Shop and has secured a commissary to 
pick up and house its food products during hours of non-operation. 
 
 

 
Figure 2 
 
As previously stated, the Stage Stop Gun Shop, where the food truck will be located, has 
thirty-nine parking spaces. The food truck will utilize three parking spaces leaving thirty-
six parking spaces available. Per the Atwater Municipal Code (AMC) section 17.43.060 
the following parking requirements are required for commercial uses:   



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
A. Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks, and 

post offices: one space for every 500 square feet of floor area. However, uses 
which do not generate significant traffic, including but not limited to furniture stores, 
may convert part of the required parking into landscaping at the discretion of the 
Planning Commission; this landscaped area is to be converted if the need arises 
or the land use changes.  

 
B. Mobile Food Vendor: 

a. If the mobile food vendor shares a site with an established use, any 
parking spaces occupied by patrons of the mobile food vendor shall not be counted 
against the established use’s parking requirements. If the established use notifies 
the City that parking has become an issue for its own patrons as a result of the 
mobile food vendor’s operations, the Planning Commission shall hold a hearing to 
determine whether to revoke or modify the mobile food vendor’s conditional use 
permit. 

b. Side Street parking will be considered when assessing the availability of 
parking for mobile food vendors in the Downtown Business District.  

 
The Stage Stop Gun Shop is approximately 18,000 square feet and requires maintaining 
a minimum of thirty-six parking spaces as previously stated, the Gun Shop has thirty-nine 
parking spaces with the mobile food truck utilizing a total of thirty-six for patrons, providing 
the minimum requirement per the Atwater Municipal Code.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Land Use Designation 

 
Downtown Residential Mixed Use 

 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 6 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Land Use Designation: 
 
The project site has a land use designation of Downtown Residential Mixed Use (DMU) ; 
this designation is intended to provide a full range of uses in Downtown Atwater, including 
retail stores, eating and drinking establishments, commercial recreation, entertainment, 
and cultural facilities. The project intends to operate a food truck that is consistent with 
the designated use of the Atwater General Plan land use designation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 7 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Zoning 

 
 

 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 8 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Zoning: 
 
The Downtown Business District is intended to provide a mix of public and private uses 
designated to create a downtown shopping experience and pedestrian-friendly 
environment. 
 
Surrounding Uses: 
 
The properties immediately to the north, south, east, and west also have a land use 
designation of Downtown Residential Mixed Use. 
 
Zoning Consistency: 
 
The Downtown Business District is intended to provide a mix of public and private uses 
designated to create a downtown shopping experience and pedestrian-friendly 
environment. The use of a food truck is consistent with the current zoning.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
The applicant’s request for a conditional use permit to operate a food truck/mobile food 
vendor located at 601 Atwater Boulevard is consistent with the land use designation and 
the AMC 17.43.030. Staff recommends Planning Commission approve the use permit. 
 
II. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item has 
been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
III. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
 
IV. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
 
V. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review, and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0223-23  Page 9 
 
   

 
 
 

  

VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), this project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15311(c), “Accessory Structures,” because section 
15311(c) Placement of seasonal or temporary use items such as lifeguard towers, mobile 
food units, portable restrooms, or similar items in generally the same location from time 
to time in publicly owned parks, stadiums, or other facilities designed for public use.   
 
VIII. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  
 
Following the adoption of Resolution No. PC 0223-23, the Recording Secretary, will 
forward the signed Resolutions to the applicant. 
 
Prepared by: Sam Rashe, Senior Planner 
 
Submitted by: Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 
Director  
 
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution  
2. UDA 
3. Operational Statement 
4. Site Plan  

 
 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. PC 0223-23 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
APPROVE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 23-
04-0100 FOR A MOBILE FOOD VENDOR TO BE 
LOCATED AT 601 ATWATER BOULEVARD 

WHEREAS, at a duly noticed public hearing held on August 16th, 2023, the Planning 
Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed Conditional Use Permit No. 23-04-0100. 

WHEREAS, this project is statutorily exempt under California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) guideline 15311(c), “Accessory Structures;” and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the Conditional Use Permit, __ person(s) spoke 
in opposition of the Conditional Use Permit, and __ written comment(s) have been 
submitted either in opposition or in favor of the Conditional Use Permit; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 23-04-0100 would not have a 
detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any 
adverse effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 23-04-0100. 

1. The applicant proposes to operate as a Mobile Food Vendor in compliance with all 
applicable City regulations.  

2. The project is consistent with the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 
3. The project is exempt from environmental review pursuant CEQA guideline 15311(c), 

“Accessory Structures”. 
4. The public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and advertised. 
5. Adoption of the resolution will not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and 

welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals above are true and correct 
and hereby incorporated by reference. Planning Commission of the City of Atwater 
does hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 23-04-0100 for a mobile food 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0223-23 Page 2 
 

vendor located at 601 Atwater Boulevard (APN: 003-082-014) subject to the 
following conditions: 

BUILDING  
 

1. No Conditions needed. 
 
CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 

2. Generator subject to noise complaints and enforcement as complaints arise. 

3. NO additional “pop-ups” or expandable covers encroaching into additional 

parking spaces. 

ENGINEERING   

4. No exceptions taken.  

FINANCE 

5. If applicant is connecting or using City Water, Sewer or Garbage, owner must 
submit a Start Service Application for Water, Sewer, and Garbage services. 

6. Before business is up and running, the owner must submit a business license 
application for review and approval and pay all applicable taxes and fees. 

FIRE 

7. No special conditions are needed. 

POLICE   

8. Ensure that there is sufficient parking and travel space to prevent traffic 
hazards. 

PLANNING  
 

9. All on-site graffiti shall be the responsibility of the property owner. All graffiti 
shall be abated in accordance with City Graffiti Ordinances. 

 
10. Project shall comply with the most current California Code of Regulations Title 

24, parts 1 through 12, the most current Health and Safety Codes and the 
most current Fire and Life Safety Codes, all along with the California State 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0223-23 Page 3 
 

Amendments. All building permit applications received by the City of Atwater 
Building Division on or after January 1, 2020, shall comply with parts 1 
through 10 and part 12 of the 2019 edition of the California Code of 
Regulations Title 24. 
 

11. The Mobile Food Trailer will operate Tuesday through Sunday between the 
hours of 10:00 am and 10:00 pm.  
 

12. Provide an annual Conditional Use Permit Monitoring fee in accordance with 
the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule.  

 
 

13. Applicant shall comply with all of the conditions of approval prior to issuance 
of a business license. 

 
14. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 

Permit No. 23-04-0100. 
 

15. Applicant shall comply with all Commercial and Industrial Design Guidelines.  
 

16. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from 
these plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to 
review and approval prior to implementation. 

17. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend 
and hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees 
from any and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, 
its agents, officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any 
approval by the City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or 
legislative body concerning this application, which action is brought within 
applicable statutes of limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the 
applicant or applicant’s successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and 
shall cooperate fully in the defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or 
applicant’s successor in interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, 
indemnify or hold the City harmless. This condition may be placed on any 
plans or other documents pertaining to this application. 

PUBLIC WORKS 

18. No special conditions needed. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0223-23 Page 4 
 

 
 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 16th day of August, 2023. 
 
AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:      
        
 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
 
      __________________________________                                                               
      RONALD DAUGHERTY,  
      CHAIRPERSON  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER /  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 



003-082-014

















003-082-014







003-082-014


















	PC Agenda 8.16.23.pdf
	PC Minutes 7.19.23.pdf
	ACTION MINUTES

	RSO PC 0223-23 Staff Report Packet.pdf
	RSO PC 0223-23 Staff Report.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	PC Resolution 0223-23.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	RSO 223-23 Uniform Development Application
	RSO 223-23 Operational Statement
	Site Plan




